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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful� On behalf of the Board of 
Directors of Gatehouse Financial Group Limited (“GFG”, the “Group”), I am pleased to 
present the 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements�

Despite the ongoing challenges and 
uncertainty created by the global 
coronavirus pandemic, I am delighted 
that both Gatehouse Capital (“GC”) and 
Gatehouse Bank (“GHB”) continued to 
make considerable progress in 2021. 

Gatehouse Capital (GC) reported a profit 
before tax of  £2.5m (2020; profit before 
tax of  £2.3m) for the fiscal year ending 31 
December 2021, a remarkable achievement 
made possible due to a number of 
milestones. 

During the first quarter, GC realized the 
successful sale of  Thistle, its flagship UK 
Private Rented Sector (PRS) investment, 
which was initially developed in 2014. 
The portfolio was one of  the largest UK 
institutional build-to-rent (BTR) platforms. 
Its sale to Goldman Sachs was the first 
substantial sale of  a portfolio of  new-build, 
single-family suburban PRS houses in the 
United Kingdom. 

In the United States, GC realized one of  its 
most successful exits in the US industrial 
space with the sale of  the Bluelinx Portfolio 
(BIP). This success underlines GC’s ability 
to leverage its strong relationships in the US 
industrial sector that led to acquiring the 
property off-market and below market value 
in 2018.

In the second quarter, GC embarked upon 
the next phase of  its joint venture with 
Orion Office REIT in the United States. 
GC managed to acquire two additional 
properties for the OAP aggregation platform 
with tenants across a variety of  sectors, 
providing additional diversification and 
secure income streams for its clients. 

Gatehouse Capital continued its formidable 
relationship with its US partner, Brennan 
Investment Group, securing a single-tenant, 
long-term net-leased industrial properties 
in an off-market transaction during the final 
quarter of  the year.

Such achievements, once again, are the 
result of  GC’s pioneering investment 
strategy, its well-established track record 
and its deep international relationships with 
prominent investment groups in both the 
UK and US real estate markets.

Furthermore, throughout the year, GC 
focused on growing its client base achieving 
a 51% increase in the number of  clients in 
comparison to 2020. GC also continued 
its efforts in leveraging technology to 
streamline its workflows and processes, 
with the deployment of  a digitally integrated 
HR management system and initiated the 
integration of  the cloud-based application 
with the in-house hosted software.

Gatehouse Capital and its operational 
partners will continue their strategy of 
sourcing high-quality investment deals that 
meet the needs of  their client base, while 
remaining agile and innovative in the face of 
any potential obstacles.

Gatehouse Bank (GHB) continues its 
evolution into a digital-first retail focussed 
bank, enhancing its product range in 2021 to 
assist homeowners, landlords and savers. 

The Bank became operationally carbon 
neutral during the year and has established 
an initial roadmap to Net Zero targets for its 
home finance portfolio. GHB demonstrated 
the opportunity for sustainable products 
with the launch of  the award-winning 
Woodland Saver accounts. These offer 
UK savers a competitive return and the 
opportunity to have a positive impact on 
the environment, as a tree is planted in UK 
woodland developments for each account 
opened or renewed.

The Bank’s award-winning digital savings 
platform continues to perform above 
expectations, ensuring GHB can raise 
sufficient liquidity with a high customer 
retention rate.

In 2021, GHB’s Residential Property Finance 
offering went from strength to strength 
with a record number of  originations. The 
Bank further enhanced its product range in 
the third quarter of  2021, with the launch 
of  higher Finance to Value Home Finance – 
helping UK first-time buyers take their first 
step onto the property ladder. 

In the institutional Build to Rent sector, 
where GHB’s expertise is well established, 
the Bank continued to deliver as planned. 
Following the successful sale of  the Thistle 
portfolio highlighted above, Gatehouse Bank 
and Texas Pacific Group Real Estate formed 
a minimum £500 million joint venture to 
enable the construction of  at least 2,500 
family rental homes in the UK. 

The increasing strength of  the Bank’s 
strategy and operating model is reflected 
in the profitability Gatehouse was able to 
achieve in 2021, pre-tax profit of  £3.6m 
(2020; pre-tax profit of  £2.1m).

I am confident that Gatehouse Bank is well 
positioned to maintain its growth trajectory 
with a focus on a diversified financing 
portfolio.

The Board continues to diligently monitor all 
regulatory requirements, including our Risk 
Appetite Statement. We are also keeping 
a close watch on the uncertainty that 
continues with regards to the coronavirus 
pandemic and the global economic outlook.

I would like to conclude by thanking our 
Shareholders, Directors, Shariah Supervisory 
Board and all our hard-working staff.

Fahed Faisal Boodai

Chairman

20 May 2022
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SHARIAH SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT

بسم الله الرحمن الرحيم

To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Financial Group Limited

Assalaam A’laikum Wa Rahmat Allah Wa Barakatuh

20 May 2022

In compliance with our terms of 
appointment with Gatehouse Financial 
Group Limited (“GFG”), we, the Shariah 
Supervisory Board (the “SSB”), are required 
to submit the following report of  Shariah 
compliance to you in connection with the 
business activities and the operations of 
GFG and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

In connection with our mandate, we have 
reviewed all material transaction documents 
that were presented to us and we also 
relied on certification of  Shariah compliance 
issued by the respective Shariah Supervisory 
Boards of  the subsidiaries within the 
Group. These include transactional as well 
as agreements signed with third parties for 
the purpose of  obtaining their services to 
facilitate the proper operation of  the Group. 
This report relates to the year ended 31 
December 2021. 

We have conducted overall Shariah 
review of  the Group to form an opinion 
as to whether the Group has complied 
with Shariah and with the specific 
pronouncements, rulings and guidelines 
issued by us.

Management is responsible for ensuring 
that the Group conducts its business in 
accordance with Islamic Shariah. It is our 
responsibility to form an independent 
opinion and report to you, based on our 
overall review of  the operations of  the 
Group.

Supervision

The SSB has supervised the Group’s 
operations to the extent it is relevant to 
Shariah compliance and carried out its role in 
directing the Group to comply with Shariah 
and the SSB’s Shariah pronouncements.

Group’s Contracts

The Group has entered into contracts 
which include obtaining services from third 
parties in order to efficiently manage the 
Group. The SSB has reviewed the contracts 
and agreements presented during the year 
and conveyed their pronouncements. The 
Group has followed the pronouncements 
and, where necessary, amended the relevant 
documents in order to comply with Shariah 
principles.

Shariah Audit

Regular Shariah audits have been carried 
out of  the Group’s business activities for 
the year ended 31 December 2021. The 
Shariah audit included a review of  material 
transaction documents executed by the 
Group. In all material respects, the SSB 
found the business activities of  the Group 
to be in compliance with the principles of 
Shariah and thanks the management of  the 
Group for adhering to the principles of 
Shariah.

Balance Sheet

The SSB has reviewed the Group’s Balance 
Sheet, the attached statements therewith 
and notes complementary thereto. The 
SSB indicates that the Balance Sheet is 
within limits of  information presented by 
the Group’s management representing the 
Group’s assets and liabilities.

Zakaat

The Group calculates the Zakaat on behalf 
of  its shareholders according to the Shariah 
rules approved by the Shariah Supervisory 
Board and was calculated using the Net 
Invested Funds method. The SSB reviewed 
the Group’s policies on Zakaat which states 

that the payment out of  the shareholders’ 
funds retained with the Group or the Zakaat 
payable on the Group’s paid up capital is the 
responsibility of  the shareholders.

Conclusions

We performed our review so as to obtain 
material information including reliance on 
the certification of  Shariah compliance 
issued by the Shariah Supervisory Boards 
of  the entities within the Group. We sought 
explanations which we considered necessary 
in order to provide us with sufficient 
evidence to give assurance that the Group 
has not breached the rules and principles of 
Shariah.

In our opinion, the contracts and 
agreements, transactions and dealings 
entered into by the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 complies with the 
Islamic principles of  Shariah.

Members of the Shariah Supervisory Board

Sheikh Nizam Yaquby
Chairman of  the SSB

Sheikh Dr. Abdul Aziz Al-Qassar
Member of  the SSB

Sheikh Dr Esam Khalaf Al Enezi
Member of  the SSB 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report on 
the affairs of  the Group, together with 
the financial statements and independent 
auditor’s report, for the year ended 31 
December 2021. 

For details about going concern and 
subsequent events, please refer to note 3 
and 40. 

Principal Activities
Gatehouse Financial Group Limited (“GFG”, 
the “Group”) was incorporated in Jersey on 
5 March 2015 to be the holding Company 
for Gatehouse Bank plc and Gatehouse 
Capital Economic and Financial Consultancy 
K.S.C.C (“Gatehouse Capital”). 

Gatehouse Bank plc is incorporated in the 
UK and is authorised by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA) and regulated by 
the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and 
the PRA to act as a deposit-taking institution. 

Gatehouse Capital is a closed shareholding 
Company registered in Kuwait and 
is engaged in providing management 
consultancy to local and foreign companies.

Financial results
The financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021 are shown on pages 19 
to 23. The consolidated Group profit for 
the year after taxation amounts to £3,230k 
(2020: profit of  £1,743k). The consolidated 
Group comprehensive profit for the year 
amounts to £3,948k (2020: loss of  £501k).

Dividend
No dividends were paid during the 
year (2020: £nil). The Directors do not 
recommend a final dividend on ordinary 
shares to be paid in respect of  the year 
(2020: £nil).

Directors and Directors’ Interests 
in Shares
The date of  appointment to the Board of 
the Company is set out overleaf:

Below is a table of  Directors appointments 
and resignations:

Fahed Boodai
Date of  Appointment  (18 March 2015)

Abdulaziz Al-Bader 
Date of  Appointment  (15 February 2017)

Mohamad Tawfik Al-Tahawy 
Date of  Appointment  (18 March 2015)

Charles Haresnape 
Date of  Appointment  (15 June 2017)

Zakaat
The Group calculates the Zakaat on behalf 
of  its shareholders according to the Shariah 
rules approved by the Shariah Supervisory 
Board. Zakaat calculated for the year ended 
31 December 2021 is 0.0168 pence per 
ordinary share of  1 pence each (2020: 
0.0130 pence per ordinary share of  1 pence 
each). The responsibility for payment of 
Zakaat lies with the shareholders of  the 
Group.

Approved by the Board of  Directors and 
signed on behalf  of  the Board.

Mohamad Tawfik Al-Tahawy

Director

20 May 2022
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Jersey Company law requires the Directors 
to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with the UK-
adopted International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements 
are required by Jersey Company law to give 
a true and fair view of  the state of  affairs of 
the Company and of  the profit or loss of  the 
Company for that year. 

In preparing these financial statements, 
International Accounting Standard 1 
requires that Directors present fairly for 
each financial year the Group’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash 
flows. This requires the fair representation 
of  the effects of  transactions, other events 
and conditions in accordance with the 
definitions and recognition criteria for assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. In virtually 
all circumstances, a fair presentation will be 
achieved by compliance with all applicable 
IFRSs. However, Directors are also  
required to:

·	 properly select and apply accounting 
policies;

·	 present information, including accounting 
policies, in a manner that provides 
relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information; 

·	 provide additional disclosures 
when compliance with the specific 
requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact 
of  particular transactions, other events 
and conditions on the entity’s financial 
position and financial performance; and

·	 make an assessment of  the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of  the Company and to enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies ( Jersey) 
Law 1991. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of  the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of  fraud and other 
irregularities.

We confirm that to the best of  our 
knowledge:

·	 The financial statements, prepared in 
accordance with relevant reporting 
framework, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial results of 
the Group and the undertakings included 
in the consolidation taken as a whole;

·	 The Chairman’s statement includes a 
fair review of  the development and 
performance of  the business and 
the position of  the Group and the 
undertakings; and

·	 The annual report and financial 
statements, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and 
strategy.

By order of  the Board:

Mohamad Tawfik Al-Tahawy

Director

20 May 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
GATEHOUSE FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED 

In our opinion the financial statements of 
Gatehouse Financial Group Limited (the 
‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the 
‘group’):

·	 give a true and fair view of  the state of 
the group’s affairs as at 31st December, 
2021 and of  the group’s profit for the 
year then ended; 

·	 have been properly prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as isued by 
the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB); and

·	 have been properly prepared in 
accordance the Companies ( Jersey) Law 
1991.

We have audited the financial statements 
which comprise:
·	 the consolidated income statement;

·	 the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income;

·	 the consolidated statement of  financial 
position;

·	 the consolidated statement of  changes in 
equity;

·	 the consolidated statement of  cash flows 
; and

·	 the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements 1 to 40.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and IFRSs as issued by the 
IASB.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of  the financial 
statements section of  our report.

We are independent of  the group in 
accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of  the financial 
statements in the UK, including the Financial 
Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the directors’ use of  the 
going concern basis of  accounting in the 
preparation of  the financial statements is 
appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, 
we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the group’s and parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of  at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities 
of  the directors with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant 
sections of  this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors 
are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of  assurance conclusion 
thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the course 
of  the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If  we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether this gives rise to 
a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of  this 

other information, we are required to report 
that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the statement 
of  directors’ responsibilities, the directors 
are responsible for the preparation of  the 
financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of  financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing 
the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of  accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the group 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of  assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of  users taken on the 
basis of  these financial statements.

A further description of  our responsibilities 
for the audit of  the financial statements 
is located on the FRC’s website at: www.
frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of  our auditor’s 
report.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion
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Extent to which the audit was 
considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent 
to which our procedures are capable of 
detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below. 

We considered the nature of  the group’s 
industry and its control environment, and 
reviewed the group’s documentation of  their 
policies and procedures relating to fraud and 
compliance with laws and regulations. We 
also enquired of  management about their 
own identification and assessment of  the 
risks of  irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of  the legal 
and regulatory frameworks that the group 
operates in, and identified the key laws and 
regulations that:

·	 had a direct effect on the determination 
of  material amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. These included 
Companies ( Jersey) Law 1991 and tax 
legislation; and

·	 do not have a direct effect on the 
financial statements but compliance with 
which may be fundamental to the group’s 
ability to operate or to avoid a material 
penalty. These included anti-money 
laundering and environmental regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement 
team including significant component audit 
teams and relevant internal specialists 
such as tax, financial instrument valuation 
specialists, property valuation specialists, 
anti money laundering specialists and pricing 
specialists regarding the opportunities 
and incentives that may exist within the 
organisation for fraud and how and where 
fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of  performing the above, we 
identified the greatest potential for fraud 
in the following areas, and our specific 
procedures performed to address them are 
described below:

·	 The valuation of  expected credit losses 
(’ECL’) on financing assets involves 
significant management judgement 
around the appropriateness of 
macroeconomic scenarios used and their 
weightings, determination of  probabilities 
of  default (‘PDs’), the identification of 
significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’), 
the completeness and valuation of 
overlays and valuation of  collateral for 
exposures in Stage 2 and Stage 3. We 
involved our credit modelling specialist 
and economics specialist teams to assess 
the appropriateness of  PDs, SICR, 
overlays and MES assumptions and other 
variables.

In common with all audits under ISAs 
(UK), we are also required to perform 
specific procedures to respond to the risk 
of  management override. In addressing the 
risk of  fraud through management override 
of  controls, we tested the appropriateness 
of  journal entries and other adjustments; 
assessed whether the judgements made in 
making accounting estimates are indicative of 
a potential bias; and evaluated the business 
rationale of  any significant transactions that 
are unusual or outside the normal course of 
business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to 
respond to the risks identified included the 
following:

·	 reviewing financial statement disclosures 
by testing to supporting documentation 
to assess compliance with provisions of 
relevant laws and regulations described 
as having a direct effect on the financial 
statements;

·	 performing analytical procedures to 
identify any unusual or unexpected 
relationships that may indicate risks of 
material misstatement due to fraud; 

·	 enquiring of  management and in-
house legal counsel concerning actual 
and potential litigation and claims, and 
instances of  non-compliance with laws 
and regulations; and

·	 reading minutes of  meetings of  those 
charged with governance.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

Under the Companies ( Jersey) Law 1991 
we are required to report in respect of  the 
following matters if, in our opinion:

·	 proper accounting records have not been 
kept by the parent company, or proper 
returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited 
by us; or

·	 the financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or

·	 we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our 
audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of 
these matters.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
Article 113A of  the Companies ( Jersey) Law 
1991. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and the company’s members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Atif Yusuf
for and on behalf  of  Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor 
London, United Kingdom

20 May 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GATEHOUSE FINANCIAL 
GROUP LIMITED (CONTINUED)
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Notes

Year ended
31 Dec 2021

£’000s

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

£’000s

Income

Income from financial assets held at amortised cost 4 33,889 25,588  

Charges to financial institutions and customers (16,250) (15,989) 

Fees and commission income 6 15,718 9,924 

Fees and commission expense (164) (117) 

Net (loss)/gains from financial assets at fair value through income statement (FVTIS) 5 (36) 1,363  

Net gains from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 1,267 1,462  

Gains on investment properties 1,374 3,501  

(Loss)/Gain on property held for sale (472) 1,581  

Impairment charge on financial assets 9 (806) (2,570) 

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (457) 1,165  

Other income 14 2,178 2,542  

Total operating income 36,241 28,450 

Expenses

Staff costs 7 (20,847) (16,636)

Other operating expenses 8 (10,843) (9,834)

Depreciation and amortisation 24 & 25 (1,532) (1,382)

Total operating expenses (33,222) (27,852)

Operating profit/(loss) 3,019 598

Net share of  profit of  associate 22 364 1,145  

Profit/(loss) before tax 3,383  1,743  

Tax 13 (153) -

Profit for the year from continuing operations 3,230 1,743 

Attributable to:

Profit attributable to the Group’s equity holders 2,770 1,737  

Non-controlling interest 460 6  

3,230 1,743  

Notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of  the financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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Year ended
31 Dec 2021

£’000s 

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

£’000s 

Profit for the year from continuing operations 3,230 1,744  

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement if specific 
conditions are met:

Net movement on instruments at FVTOCI (15) 268

Foreign currency translation gains/(losses) from investment in associate 659 (1,480)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to income statement:

Net movement on instruments at FVTOCI 74 (1,032)

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) for the year 718 (2,245)

Comprehensive gain/(loss) for the year 3,948 (501)

Attributable to:

Profit/(loss) attributable to the Group’s equity holders 3,488 (507)

Non-controlling interest 460 6

3,948 (501)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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31 Dec 2021
£’000s

31 Dec 2020
£’000s

Assets Notes

Cash and balances with banks 50,945 15,598 

Financing and advances at amortised cost 17 901,111 702,170  

Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement 18 16,781 18,071  

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 19 31,825 31,933  

Investment in associate 22 8,902 9,250  

Goodwill 27 12,332 11,747  

Derivative financial instruments 23 2,619 15,351  

Intangible assets 24 1,388 1,465  

Investment Properties 10 820 25,358  

Property, Plant and Equipment 25 2,798 2,105  

Other assets 28 7,237 4,546  

1,036,758 837,594  

Property held for sale 11 4,537 -

Total assets 1,041,295 837,594  

Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 29 910,824 713,999  

Financial liabilities held at fair value through the income statement 30 1,341 1,226  

Derivative financial instruments 23 5,033 7,734  

Other liabilities 31 14,579 9,065  

Total liabilities 931,777 732,024  

Net assets 109,518 105,570

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 35 158,000 158,000  

Own shares 36 (7,951) (7,951) 

Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve (4,306) (4,276) 

Foreign currency translation reserve 2,385 1,726  

Retained deficits (39,913) (42,772) 

Equity attributable to the Group’s equity holders 108,215 104,727  

Non-controlling interest 1,303 843

Total Equity 109,518 105,570

Notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of  the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of  Directors and authorised for issue on the 20 May 2022.

They were signed on its behalf  by:

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Director

Mohamad Tawfik Al-Tahawy
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Share capital Own Shares FVTOCI 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
deficit

Equity 
attributable 

to the 
Group’s 

equity 
holders

Non-
controlling 

interest

Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s  £’000s £’000s  

Balance at 1 January 2021 158,000 (7,951) (4,276) 1,726 (42,772) 104,727 843 105,570

Other comprehensive gains for the year

Net movement on 
instruments at FVTOCI

- - (30) - 89 59 - 59

Foreign currency 
translation gains from 
associate investments

- - - 659 - 659 - 659

Total other 
comprehensive gains for 
the year

- - (30) 659 89 718 - 718

Profit for the year - - - - 2,770 2,770 460 3,230

Balance at 31 
December 2021

158,000 (7,951) (4,306) 2,385 (39,913) 108,215 1,303 109,518

Balance at 1 January 2020 158,000 (7,951) (3,512) 3,206  (44,777) 104,966 837 105,803  

Other comprehensive gains for the year

Net movement on 
instruments at FVTOCI

- - (764) - - (764) - (764) 

Reserve on acquisition of 
subsidiary

- - - - 268 268 - 268

Foreign currency translation 
loss from associate 
investments

- - - (1,480) - (1,480) - (1,480)

Total other 
comprehensive losses 
for the year

- - (764) (1,480) 268 (1,976) - (1,976)

Profit for the year - - - - 1,737  1,737 6 1,743  

Balance at 31 
December 2020

158,000  (7,951) (4,276) 1,726  (42,772) 104,727 843 105,570

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Year ended
31 Dec 2021 

Year ended
31 Dec 2020

Cash flows from operating activities £’000s £’000s

Profit for the year from continuing operations 3,230 1,744

Adjusted for:

Impairment charge 9 806 2,570

Negative revaluation of  financial assets held at FVTIS 260 176

Attributable share in associates’ results (364) (1,146)

Fair value movement in derivative financial instruments 160 (96)

Depreciation and amortisation 1,532 1,382

Gains on investment properties (2,307) (3,501)

Losses/(Gains) on property held for sale 10 472 (1,581)

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains 398 (898)

Taxation 13 153 -

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets:

Net investment in financial assets held at FVTOCI 838 -

Net investment in financial assets at FVTIS 8,767 (32,089)

Changes in financing and advances at amortised cost (199,760) (145,263)

Net increase in other assets (2,766) (1,324) 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Changes in financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 196,360 149,397

Net decrease in other liabilities 5,155 1,522

Net cash outflow from operating activities 12,934 (29,107)

Cash flow from investing activities

Dividend received from associate 22 866 957

Purchases of  financial assets held at FVTOCI (17,904) (9,152)

Proceeds from financial assets held at FVTOCI 18,482 13,065

Proceeds from sale of  Investment Properties 20,919 -

Proceeds from sale of  financial assets at FVTIS 2,319 14,259

Purchase of  subsidiaries, net of  cash acquired (437) -

Purchase of  plant and equipment 25 (632) (1,842)

Purchase of  intangible assets 24 (346) (502)

Net proceeds from disposal of  property held for sale - 13,779

Net cash inflow from investing activities 23,267 30,564

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash outflow for lease liabilities 26 (1,000) (716)

Net cash inflow from financing activities (1,000) (716)

Net outflow/inflow in cash and cash equivalents 35,201 741

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of  the year 15,598 15,026

Effect of  foreign exchange rate changes 146 (169)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 50,945 15,598

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For The Year Ended 31 December 2021

1. General Information
Gatehouse Financial Group Limited (the “Group”, the “Company”) was incorporated as a private company in Jersey on 5 March 2015 
under the Companies ( Jersey) Law 1991. The address of  the registered office is given on page 7.

Under Article 105(11) of  the Companies Jersey Law 1991, the Directors of  a holding company need not prepare separate financial 
statements (i.e. Company only financial statements) if  consolidated accounts for the Company are prepared, unless required to do so 
by the member of  the Company by ordinary resolution. The members of  the Company had not passed a resolution requiring separate 
financial statements and, in the Directors’ opinion the Company meets the definition of  a holding company. As permitted by law, the 
Company’s Board of  Directors have elected not to prepare separate financial statements for the Company.

2. Adoption of new and revised standards
New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective and had not yet been 
adopted by the UK:

New or amended standard or interpretation Effective date – for annual 
periods beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022

Amendments to IFRS 3 (May 2020) Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 (May 2020) 1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of  liabilities as current or non-current and Classification of  Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current — Deferral of  Effective Date

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale on 
Contribution of  Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Disclosure of  accounting 
policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of  accounting estimates 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023

IFRS 17 and Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

The directors do not expect that the adoption of  the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of  the 
Group future periods.

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of  amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021:

• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (1 Jan 2021)

• Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021.

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The amendments provide relief 
to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of  the 
Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is 
a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent 
concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if  the change were not a lease modification. The amendment was 
intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of  the Covid-19 pandemic is continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended 
the period of  application of  the practical expedient to 30 June 2022.The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 April 2021. However, the Group has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions, but plans to apply the practical expedient if 
it becomes applicable within allowed period of  application. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)’ with amendments that address issues that might affect financial reporting after the reform of  an interest 
rate benchmark, including its replacement with alternative benchmark rates. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021.

Modification of  financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities are being considered by the IASB, which introduces a practical 
expedient for modifications required by the reform. These modifications are accounted for by updating the effective interest rate. All other 
modifications are accounted for using the current IFRS requirements. 

Under the amendments, hedge accounting is not discontinued solely because of  the IBOR reform. Hedging relationships (and related 
documentation) must be amended to reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging instrument and hedged risk. Amended hedging 
relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting, including effectiveness requirements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.  Adoption of new and revised standards (continued)

Disclosures are defined in order to allow users to understand the nature and extent of  risks arising from the IBOR reform to which the 
entity is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from IBORs to alternative 
benchmark rates, and how the entity is managing this transition, the amendments require that an entity discloses information about.

The Group’s exposure to LIBOR has been explained in the Note 39 “LIBOR Interest Rate Benchmark reform (IBOR)” which also include 
a description of  these changes and how is the entity managing those risks. 

3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies 
Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance as well as the financial 
position of  the Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are described in this annual report and accounts. In addition, Note 39 to the 
financial statements includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management objectives, 
details of  its financial instruments and its exposures to credit and liquidity risk.

The Group ensures it meets its capital and liquidity prudential limits and regulatory thresholds on a day-to-day basis by actively managing 
its cash, short-term treasury placements and longer dated exposures. This also includes stress testing the impact of  one or more events 
that may adversely affect the amount of  regulatory capital and positive liquidity of  the Group. The Directors monitor the likelihood of  such 
a stress event or combination of  events happening on a forward looking basis regularly and take such preventive and detective actions as 
appropriate to ensure any stress event or events and their impact is mitigated on a timely basis. The Group’s forecasts and projections take 
account of  possible changes in future conditions and performance and the maintenance of  planned capital and liquidity resources above 
the regulatory base requirements for the foreseeable future. In light of  the above, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the annual report and financial statements.

The Group has made an assessment of  going concern, taking into account both current performance of  the Group as well as the impact 
of  the Covid-19 pandemic, and including consideration of  projections incorporating the impact of  the Covid-19 pandemic for the Group’s 
capital and funding position. Specifically, the Group considered:

• The adequacy and resilience of  the Group’s capital base throughout the pandemic including revised macro-economic scenarios;

• The impact of  negative valuations on the Group’s real estate and legacy assets; 

• The adequacy of  the Group’s liquidity taking into account the hardship policy offered to customers in financial stress, the strength of 
its retail deposit offering and the support it continues to receive from the Kuwait Investment Authority (“KIA”); and

• The regulatory and legal environment and any potential conduct risks.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost accounting convention except for financial assets and liabilities stated at 
their fair value, comprising investment securities and derivative financial instruments. 

Figures stated in thousands of pounds sterling

These consolidated financial statements disclose figures stated in thousands of  pound sterling and are rounded up to the nearest amount 
in pound sterling. 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Judgements
In the process of  applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Structured entities
The Group uses judgement in determining which entities are structured entities. If  the voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor 
in deciding who controls the entity and such voting rights relate to the administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed 
by means of  contractual arrangements, the Group identifies such entities as structured entities. After determining whether an entity is a 
structured entity, the Company determines whether it needs to consolidate this entity based on the consolidation principles of  IFRS 10. 
The management of  the Company has determined that it does not have any controlling interest in consolidated structured entities as at 
the reporting date. (See Note 21).

Key estimates
Level 3 fair value measurements 

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data. Fair value is estimated on the basis of  historic cost less impairment and by reference to the net asset value of 
the underlying investment, where the net asset value is not based on observable market data (see Note 39).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policiess (continued)

Provisions

In 2019, the Group estimated a judgemental provision for £1,250,000 for any adverse findings on legacy activities. The provision represents 
management’s best estimate on any potential liability taking into account all readily available information. Management have retained the 
provision at the same level as taken in 2019 with no adjustment proposed for 2021.

Credit losses 

The calculation of  expected credit losses involves a number of  assumptions and assessments. The valuation of  expected credit losses is 
inherently associated with a certain degree of  uncertainty. Areas involving a high degree of  assumptions include future-oriented information 
in macroeconomic scenarios and model-based calculations, additional overlays considering the credit risk for payment holiday customers 
due to the economic distress caused by COVID-19, assessment of  significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

If  a further 5% and 10% shift in accounts occurred, moving from stage 1 to stage 2 for the Group’s financing portfolio and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease by £431k and £863k respectively.

A 10% relative reduction in the overall value of  collateral realised in Residential Property Finance (RPF) business would increase the total 
impairment provisions for such financing by £915k as at 31 December 2021. A 20% relative reduction in the overall value of  collateral 
realised in RPF business would increase the total impairment provisions for such financing by £2,365k as at 31 December 2021.

A 10% relative reduction in the overall value of  collateral realised in Real Estate Commercial Finance (REF) business would increase the 
total impairment provisions for such financing by £420k as at 31 December 2021. A 20% relative reduction in the overall value of  collateral 
realised in REF business would increase the total impairment provisions for such financing by £1,266k as at 31 December 2021.

Basis of consolidation

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
Group’s financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of  the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its 
subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of  an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of  subsidiaries acquired or disposed of  during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date 
of  acquisition or up to the effective date of  disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Foreign currencies 

The financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency, transactions in foreign 
currencies are initially recorded at the rate of  exchange ruling at the date of  transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated into the functional currency at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
into sterling at the effective historical rate used on the date of  initial recognition. Exchange differences arising on the settlements of 
monetary items and on the retranslation of  monetary items are included in the profit or loss for the year.

Financial Instruments 

The Group has applied the accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 for fair value hedge accounting.

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 
The Group classifies all financial assets into one of  the following categories:

1. Amortised cost;

2. Fair value thorough other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and

3. Fair value though income statement (FVTIS):

a. mandatory

b. fair value option.

The starting point for classification of  financial assets into respective measurement categories is the business model for managing the 
financial instruments, as well as whether the instrument’s contractual cash flows only constitute solely payments of  principal and profit. 

Financial liabilities are classified as follows:

1. Amortised cost; and

2. Fair value through income statement (FVTIS):

a. mandatory

b. fair value option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

As a general rule, financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost. The exceptions are the financial liabilities required to be measured 
at fair value through income statement, such as derivatives and liabilities which, upon initial recognition, are irrevocably identified as being 
measured at fair value (fair value option). 

Upon initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs are included in 
the acquisition cost. 

All purchases and sales of  financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair value between the trade date 
and settlement date are recognised in the consolidated statement of  income or in the consolidated statement of  comprehensive income 
in accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of  financial assets 
that require delivery of  assets within the timeframe generally established by regulations or conventions in the marketplace.

Business model assessment 
The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of  financial assets to achieve its business 
objective. The Group’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of  aggregated portfolios 
and is based on observable factors such as: 

• How the performance of  the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and reported to 
the entity’s key management personnel; and

• The risks that affect the performance of  the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and, in particular, 
the way those risks are managed.

The expected frequency, value and timing of  sales are also important aspects of  the Group’s assessment.

The Solely Payments of Principal and Profit (“SPPP”) test 

As a second step of  its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of  financial assets to identify whether they meet 
the SPPP test. 

Principal is defined as the fair value of  the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of  the financial asset. The most 
significant elements of  the profit from a financing arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of  money and credit risk. 
To make the SPPP assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset 
is denominated, and the period for which the profit rate is set. 

Financing and advances at amortised cost
Financing and advances at amortised cost include financial assets that are held to collect contractual cash flows that are SPPP. They are 
initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost less impairment losses. 

Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement 
Financial assets held at value through income statement include financing advanced to corporate customers and unquoted equity securities. 
Financing advanced to corporate customer has been classified in this caption as it has failed to meet all the requirements set out in the 
SPPP test indicating that its cash flows are not solely payments of  principal and profit, irrespective of  the business model. Unquoted equity 
securities are not held for trading and therefore the Group has the irrevocable election at initial recognition to classify the instruments as 
FVTOCI, which has not been taken. This election is available for each separate investment. 

Financial assets classified under this caption are carried in the statement of  financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value 
recognised in the income statement.  

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include quoted funds, unquoted equity securities which the Group has 
elected to hold under FVTOCI and quoted Sukuk. 

The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of  an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination, in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of  these financial instruments are never recycled to the income statement. Dividends on such investments 
are recognised in the income statement unless the dividend represents a recovery of  part of  the cost of  the investment. 

For debt instruments, gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in FVTOCI reserve of  equity. Upon disposal, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to the income statement.

Reclassification of financial instruments
As a general rule, financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition. Reclassification is permitted in the rare case that the Group 
changes the business model it applies for the management of  financial asset. The reclassification of  financial liabilities is not permitted after 
initial recognition.

No reclassifications have been made during the period covered in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are set off on the balance sheet if  the Group has a contractual right to offset, in its operating activities and in the 
event of  bankruptcy, and if  the intention is to settle the items on a net basis or to simultaneously liquidate the asset and settle the liability. 

Fair Value Hedge Accounting

IFRS 9 includes an accounting policy choice to remain with IAS 39 hedge accounting, which the Group has exercised. The Group applies 
fair value hedge accounting to hedge Profit Rate Swaps (“PRS”) which hedge the exposure in fixed rate mortgages in the residential and 
commercial financing books. At the inception of  a hedging relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging 
instruments and the hedged items, its risk management objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also requires a 
documented assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of  whether or not the hedging instruments that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes attributable to the hedged risks in the fair values of  the hedged items. 

To qualify for hedge accounting, IAS 39 requires that at the inception of  the hedge and throughout its life, each hedge must be expected 
to be highly effective (prospective effectiveness), and demonstrate actual effectiveness (retrospective effectiveness) on an on-going basis; 
GHB assesses this at inception (prospective effectiveness) and on a monthly basis (retrospective effectiveness). The documentation of 
each hedging relationship sets out how the effectiveness of  the hedge is assessed. 

For prospective effectiveness, the hedging instrument must be expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value 
attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated. For actual effectiveness to be achieved, the changes in 
fair value must offset each other in the range of  80 per cent to 125 per cent, for the hedge to be deemed effective.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments include Shariah-compliant forward foreign exchange agreements based on the Wa’ad principle and 
commitment to investment securities and PRS instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially, and are subsequently re-measured, at fair value. Fair values of  PRS instruments 
are obtained using discounted cash flow models. The valuation of  derivative financial instruments held at fair value through the income 
statement is recognised in the balance sheet under derivative financial instruments on either the asset or liability side of  the balance sheet 
dependent on whether the valuation is positive or negative respectively. The valuation of  one class of  derivative financial instruments is not 
offset against the valuation of  another class of  derivative financial instruments.

ECL measurement

The Group’s portfolio is split into three asset classes Treasury (placements and Liquid Asset Buffer (“LAB”) Sukuk), Real Estate Finance 
(“REF”) and Residential Finance Book (Home Purchase Plans (‘HPPs’) and Buy To Let). 

ECL is based on a separate estimation of  probability of  defaults (‘PDs’), loss given defaults (‘LGDs’) and exposures at defaults (‘EADs’) for 
each exposure and which are determined based on a combination of  internal and external data.

The assets to be tested for impairment are divided into the following three stages:

• Stage 1 comprises financial assets with no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition;

• Stage 2 comprises financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but for which there is no objective 
evidence that the claim is credit-impaired at the time of  reporting; and

• Stage 3 comprises financial assets for which objective circumstances have been identified indicating that the claim is impaired.

In Stage 1, provisions are to be recognised which correspond to the loss expected to occur within 12 months as a result of  default. In Stage 
2 and Stage 3, provisions are to be recognised corresponding to the loss expected to occur at some time during the whole of  the remaining 
maturity of  the asset as a result of  default.

The significant increase in credit risk reflects the risk of  default and is a measurement by which the agreement’s relative change in credit risk 
is measured. The assessment is made up of  three elements: quantitative, qualitative and the 30 days past due ‘backstop’ indicator whereby 
clients would move from Stage 1 to Stage 2 for RPF. The qualitative triggers for significant increase in credit risk differ between products:

• REF - commonly breach of  covenants Finance To Value (FTV), Finance Service Cover Ratio (FSCR) or non-payment;

• RPF - non-payment or significant increase in FTV based on quarterly Home Price Index (HPI); and

• Treasury - non-payment.

Quantitative modelling is used in conjunction with internal and external credit grades and ratings in assessing whether credit risk has 
significantly increased. The Group monitors the effectiveness of  the criteria used to identify significant increase through regular reviews. 
For each financial asset the Group also compares the lifetime probability of  default (PD) at the reporting date with the lifetime PD that 
was expected at the reporting date at initial recognition (PD thresholds) in order to identify whether the risk of  default has increased 
significantly.

REF and residential financing portfolios under IFRS 9 consider a financial asset to be in default when either the customer is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligation, or the customer is more than 90 days past due. Treasury assets are considered to be in default immediately if  they are not 
settled on the due date or when there is evidence that the counterparty is unlikely to pay its credit obligations on the contractual due date. 



ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021    |    GATEHOUSE FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED 29

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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To supplement the IFRS 9 models, the Group uses post model adjustments (PMA’s) where there are known model limitations or the 
sensitivity is not as expected. The PMA’s take into account risk factors and related credit impacts that have not been captured in the model. 
All PMA’s are approved by the CRO and CFO and agreed at the Group’s risk committee with a plan for remediation.

Forward-looking information

Under IFRS 9, the Group has incorporated the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) forward-looking forecasts for UK unemployment 
rate, residential property price index and other variables into the IFRS 9 model.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recognition/de-recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  the instrument. A 
financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset has expired or 
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of  ownership and has not retained control. If  the Group has retained control, 
it continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of  its continuing involvement in the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same financier on substantially different terms, or the terms of  an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of  the original liability and recognition of  a new liability.

All purchase and sale of  financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair value between the trade date and 
settlement date are recognised in the consolidated statement of  income or in the consolidated statement of  comprehensive income in 
accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of  financial assets 
that require delivery of  assets within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the marketplace.

Write-offs
Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has no reasonable expectation of  recovering a 
financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. If  the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the 
difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries 
are credited to credit loss expense.

Investment in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. 
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of  the investee but is not control or joint 
control over those policies.

The results and net assets of  associates are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of  accounting. 
Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of  financial position at cost as adjusted for 
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of  the net assets of  the associate, less any impairment in the value of  the investment. Losses 
of  an associate in excess of  the Group’s interest in that associate are not recognised. 

Any excess of  the cost of  acquisition over the Group’s share of  the net fair value of  the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of  the associate recognised at the date of  acquisition is included within the carrying amount of  the investment.

Investment Property 

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of  business, use in the production or supply of  goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment properties are 
measured at cost on initial recognition. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of  the investment property. 
The Group has adopted the fair value model for subsequent measurement and any change in fair value is recognised in consolidated income 
statement. Fair values of  investment properties are determined by appraisers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification 
and recent experience in the location and category of  the property being valued. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of  an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the 
carrying amount of  the item) is recognised in consolidated statement of  income. When the use of  a property changes such that it is 
reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date of  reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

IFRS 3 - Optional ‘Concentration’ test - Asset Acquisition 

Effective from 01 January 2020, IFRS 3 introduces an optional ‘concentration test’ to assess whether substantially all the fair value of  the 
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of  similar identifiable assets. The purpose of  the concentration 
test is to permit a simplified assessment of  whether an acquired set of  activities and assets may not be a business. The Bank may elect to 
apply the concentration test on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

According to paragraph 2(b) of  IFRS 3, an entity needs to do the following on acquisition of  a group of  assets:

(a) Identify and recognise the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and
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(b) Allocate the cost of  the group to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on their relative FVs at the date of  the acquisition.

According to the November 2017 The IFRS Interpretations Committee (“Committee”) update, the Committee considered two possible 
ways of  accounting for the acquisition of  the group.

Applying the first approach, an entity accounts for the acquisition of  a group of  assets as follows:

a. it identifies the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed that it recognises at the date of  the acquisition;

b. it determines the individual transaction price for each identifiable asset and liability by allocating the cost of  the group based on the 
relative fair values of  those assets and liabilities at the date of  the acquisition; and then

c. it applies the initial measurement requirements in applicable Standards to each identifiable asset acquired and liability assumed. The 
entity accounts for any difference between the amount at which the asset or liability is initially measured and its individual transaction 
price applying the relevant requirements.

Applying the second approach, for any identifiable asset or liability initially measured at an amount other than cost, an entity initially 
measures that asset or liability at the amount specified in the applicable IFRS Standard. The entity deducts from the transaction price of  the 
group of  assets the amounts allocated to the assets and liabilities initially measured at an amount other than cost, and then allocates the 
residual transaction price to the remaining identifiable assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of  the acquisition.

The Group may apply the first approach to account for the acquisition of  an asset or a group of  assets provided the criteria for asset 
acquisition is met using the optional concentration test in IFRS 3.

Financial liabilities held at fair value through income statement 
The Group may designate a financial liability upon initial recognition as at financial liabilities held at fair value through income statement if  it 
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring that liability or 
recognising the gains and losses on such a liability on different bases (commonly referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch’).

Cash and balances with banks

The caption Cash and Balances with banks represents cash and current account balances with banks, all held in interest-free accounts.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost, which includes direct and incremental acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses if  any. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over estimated useful life as follows:

Leasehold Property Over life of  lease

Leasehold Improvements Minimum of  life of  lease or 10 years

Leasehold Vehicles Over life of  lease

Property Over life of  lease

Computer Equipment 3 years

Fixtures and Fittings 5 years

Costs include all incremental, directly attributable external costs incurred in bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of  operating in the manner intended by management.

An item of  property, plant or equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of  the asset.  

Intangible assets

Intangible assets other than goodwill are accounted for in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are initially recognised 
when they are separable or arise from contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and, in the case of  intangible 
assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the assets will flow from 
their use. Intangible assets are stated at cost (which is, in the case of  assets acquired in a business combination, the acquisition date fair 
value) less accumulated amortisation and provisions for impairment, if  any, and are amortised over their useful lives on a straight line basis, 
in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flows, generally using the amortisation periods set out below:

• Goodwill - not amortised;

• Software development costs - 5 years; 

• Licence fees - 5 years; and

• Customer lists - 15 years. 

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when there are indications that impairment may have occurred.

The amortisation share is recorded in depreciation and amortisation.
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Property held for sale
Property held for sale is measured at the lower of  carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment on property held for sale is 
recognised in profit and loss. Property held for sale is not depreciated.

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of  subsidiary and associated entities and represents the excess of  the fair value of  the acquisition 
over the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is capitalised and reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently when there 
are indications impairment has occurred. Acquisitions of  subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. At 
the acquisition date the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of  the sum of  the consideration transferred, the amount of  any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the fair value of  the acquirer’s previously-held equity interest (if  any) in the acquiree over the fair value of  the identifiable net assets 
recognised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of  impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each 
of  the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of  the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of  fair value less cost to sell and value in use. If  the recoverable amount of  the cash-generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount of  the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of  any goodwill allocated to the 
unit and then to the other assets of  the unit pro-rata on the basis of  the carrying amount of  each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of  its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
permanent diminution in value. If  any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of  the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of  the impairment loss, if  any. Recoverable amount is the higher of  fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects a current market assessment 
of  the time value of  money and the risks specific to the asset. If  the recoverable amount of  an asset is estimated to be less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the income statement.

Income and expenses
Income from financial assets held at amortised cost 
“Income from financial assets held at amortised cost” consists of  profit derived from Shariah-compliant financing and advances under 
Diminishing Musharaka agreements and Murabaha placements. A Murabaha arrangement represents an agreement whereby the Group 
purchases a commodity and then sells it to a customer on a deferred settlement basis with an agreed mark-up. A Musharaka contract 
represents an agreement between the Group and the customer entering into a partnership in the ownership of  a specific asset on ongoing 
basis or for a limited time, during which the Group enters in particular arrangements with the customer to sell to them its share in this 
partnership until they become the sole owner of  the specific asset (diminishing musharaka). 

The calculation of  profit on financial assets that are not impaired (Stage 1, Stage 2) is performed by applying the effective profit rate to the 
gross outstanding amount of  asset. Once asset is impaired or classified as Stage 3, the effective profit rate is applied to amortised cost of 
the asset (i.e. gross amount less the expected credit losses).

Profit receivable on Murabaha placements and Diminishing Musharaka is recognised as income on a time-apportionment basis over the 
period of  the contract, based on applying the effective profit rate to the principal amounts outstanding. 

Revenue from contracts with customers
The standard for revenue from contracts with customers, IFRS 15, is applied for different types of  services which are mainly recognised 
under Fees and commission income in the income statement.

The income is recognised at the point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied, which corresponds to the transfer of  control 
over the service to the customer. The total income is divided between each service and recognition in income depends on whether the 
services are fulfilled at a specific point in time, or over time.

The following principles apply to the time at which income is recognised:
• Income earned gradually as the services are performed, is recognised at the rate these services are delivered, i.e. on a straight-line 

basis over time. This is due to the fact that the customer receives and consumes the service simultaneously, meaning that the Group’s 
obligation is fulfilled in line with the rendering of  the service; and

• Income attributable to a specific service or action is recognised when the service has been performed, i.e. at a specific point in time. 
Examples of  such income are brokerage and payment commissions. 

The income recognised must reflect the anticipated income. When the income includes variable reimbursement, such as refund, bonus or 
performance-based element, the income is recognised when it is highly probable there that no repayment of  the amount will take place. 
Payments are made on a regular basis as the services are performed and advance payments refer to a maximum of  12 months into the 
future. Accrued income is recognised for services that have been performed but have not been paid for. Deferred income is recognised for 
payments received for services which have not been performed. Income from contracts with customers constitutes an immaterial portion 
of  the items including in Other income. Additional expenditure required to obtain a contract with a customer is not recognised as an asset 
(prepaid expense), and instead is recognised as an expense during the accounting period in which it arises.
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Fees and commissions
Fees and commissions are recognised in line with the satisfaction of  performance obligations. This can be either at a point in time or over 
time, in line of  the provision of  the service to the customer. Fees and commissions arising from transactions for third parties, such as the 
acquisition of  securities or the purchase or sale of  other assets, are recognised when right to receive the income has been established. 
Management advisory and service fees are recognised based on applicable service contracts or over the period the service is provided. 

Charges to financial institutions and customers
“Charges to financial institutions and customers” consists of  profit payable from Shariah-compliant deposits including Murabaha deposits 
and Wakala arrangements. A Wakala arrangement represents an agreement whereby the Group accepts a deposit of  funds on behalf  of  a 
customer to perform an investment activity and endeavours to pay a return based on a pre agreed rate.

Profit payable on Murabaha deposits and Wakala arrangements is recognised as income on a time-apportionment basis over the period of 
the contract, based on the principal amounts outstanding. 

Share-based payments
The Group accounts for its share-option scheme in accordance with IFRS 2. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of 
the number of  equity options expected to vest.

The fair value determined at the grant date of  the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the Group’s estimate of  shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of  non-market-based vesting conditions.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in shareholders’ equity, in which case it is recognised in shareholders’ equity. 

Current tax is provided on taxable profits at the current rate.

Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of  assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of  deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of  realisation or settlement of  the carrying amount of  assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.

No deferred tax assets are recognised at 31 December 2021 as management believe that it is improbable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised due to tax losses brought forward.

IFRS 16 - Leases

Effective from 1 January 2019, the Group adopted the accounting standard IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 modified the set of  international 
accounting principles and interpretations on leases, in particular, IAS 17. IFRS 16 introduced a new definition for leases and confirmed the 
distinction between two types of  leases (operating and finance) with reference to the accounting treatment to be applied by the lessor.

With reference to the accounting treatment to be applied by the lessee, the new accounting standard sets, for all the leasing typologies, 
the recognition of  right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of  financial position, initially measured at the present value of  the 
future lease payments. 

At the initial recognition such asset is measured on the basis of  the lease contract cash flows. After the initial recognition the right of  use 
is measured on the basis of  the rules set for the assets by IAS 16, IAS 38 or by IAS 40 and therefore applying the cost model, less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group decided, as allowed by the standard, not to apply IFRS 16 provisions to:

• Leases of  intangible assets;
• Short-term leases, lower than 12 months; and 
• Low value assets leases.

In order to calculate the lease liability and the related right-of-use asset, the Group proceeds with discounting the future lease payments at 
a proper discount rate. In this respect, future lease payments to discount are determined based on contractual provisions. 

The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the contract or, if  it is not available, at the incremental borrowing rate. 
The latter is determined on the basis of  the cost funding for liabilities of  similar duration and similar security of  those implicit in the  
lease contract.
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In determining the lease term, the Group takes into consideration the non-cancellable period, established in the contract, in which the 
lessee is entitled to use the underlying asset also taking into account potential renewal options if  the lessee is reasonably certain to renew. 
In particular, with regards to those contracts that allow the lessee to tacitly renew the lease contract after a first set of  years, the lease term 
is determined taking into account factors such as the length of  the first period, the existence of  dismissal plans for the asset leased and any 
other circumstance indicating the reasonably certainty of  the renewal.

Right-of-use assets are disclosed within property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of  financial position, lease liabilities 
are disclosed within other liabilities in the consolidated statement of  financial position. Finance cost is disclosed within other operating 
expenses and similar changes in the consolidated income statement, depreciation of  right-of-use assets is disclosed within depreciation and 
amortisation in the consolidated income statement. Cash outflow for lease liabilities is disclosed within cash flows from financing activities 
in the consolidated statement of  cash flows.

Operating leases

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of  its investment properties. Leases for which the Group is a 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of  the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of  the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group regularly reviews the estimated unguaranteed residual value and applies the impairment 
requirements of  IFRS 9, recognising an allowance for expected credit losses on the lease receivables.

Pension costs

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all staff. The cost of  the scheme is equal to the contributions payable to 
the scheme for the accounting period and is recognised within “Staff costs” in the income statement. The Group has no further obligation 
once the contributions have been paid.

4. Income from financial assets held at amortised cost

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Income from financing arrangements 33,877 25,406

Income from financial institutions 12 182

33,889 25,588 

5. Net gains from financial assets at fair value through income statement

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Profit Rate Swap ineffectiveness 202 (96) 

(Negative)/ Positive revaluation (1,033) 365

Dividend income 795 1,094

(36) 1,363 

6. Fees and commission income 

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Management fees 11,848  8,251 

Structuring fees 1,291  1,319 

Placement fees 466  231 

Incentive fees 2,113  123 

15,718  9,924 

3.  Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)
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7. Staff costs, Directors’ emoluments and number of employees 

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Staff costs

Directors’ salaries and fees 1,584  1,107 

Directors’ pensions 73  54 

1,657  1,161 

Staff salaries 13,804 11,690 

Staff pension contributions 535  452 

Social security costs 1,405 1,041 

Other staff costs 3,446 2,292 

20,847 16,636 

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Highest paid Director

Emoluments 596  445 

596 445 

2021
No.

2020
No.

Number of  employees at year end 344  284 

Average number of  employees 343  281 

In the Group, in July 2017 Gatehouse Bank adopted the Gatehouse Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for the purposes of  granting options 
to eligible employees to incentivise and reward the delivery of  the Bank’s long-term strategy and growth over a sustained period. The 
options provide a conditional right to acquire a specified number of  ordinary shares in Gatehouse Bank plc subject to an exit event 
occurring which includes the acquisition of  more than 50% ordinary shares of  the Bank or a successful completion of  an initial public 
offering (IPO). The exercise price is set at £0.01p per share. The option period is the period beginning on the date on which the option 
first becomes exercisable and ending on the tenth anniversary of  the date of  grant. During the year the total number of  Options in issue 
were 365,000,000; no options were issued during the year (2020: 365,000,000). 

8. Other operating expenses

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Legal and professional fees 2,488 1,829 

Rent and other occupancy costs 740 858 

Travel and accommodation 309 285 

Other tax payable 838 670 

Other operating charges 2,126 2,418 

IT and communication costs 1,077 929 

Consultancy 222 29 

Shariah Supervisory Board fees 78 55 

Advertising and marketing 699 450 

Other operating cost relating to investment properties 2,266 2,311 

10,843 9,834
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9. Impairment reversal /(charge)

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Expected credit losses (806) (2,570) 

(806) (2,570) 

The balance as at 31 December 2021 for “Expected credit losses” include £125k for account receivable.

10. Investment Properties
During 2020, the Group acquired three properties which were classified as ‘Investment Properties’ and measured as fair value through 
profit and loss (FVTPL). Two of  these three properties were sold during the year while the sale of  the third property is in progress – please 
refer to note 11 for more information. Below table provides movement in the Investment Properties during 2021.

Investment in Property £’000s

At 1 January 2021 25,358
Gain on investment properties 1,374

Negative revaluation on reclassification as ‘Held for Sale’ (472)

Property disposal during the period (20,919)

Reclassified to Property Held for Sale (see Note 11) (4,537)

FX movement 16

At 31 December 2021 820

The fair value of  investment properties was determined by reference to current market prices for similar properties, adjusted as necessary 
for condition and location, or by reference to recent transactions updated to reflect current economic conditions. The valuations were 
carried out by appropriately qualified independent valuers. There were no restrictions on the title for the sale of  the properties or the 
transfer of  income or proceeds from disposal.

11. Property Held For Sale
A property was reclassified from ‘Investment properties’ to ‘Property held for sale’ as it is highly probable the sale of  this property will 
complete within next 12 months from the reporting date. The fair value less costs to sell for the property was £4,537k. Changes to fair value 
less costs to sell of  £472k (2020: £1,581k) were recognised in profit and loss before classification of  the asset as ‘Property held for sale’.

12. Profit/(Loss) before tax
2021 2020 

Profit before tax is stated after charging: £’000s £’000s 

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (457)  959 

Auditor’s remuneration 437 361 

Rentals paid under operating leases: premises 724  359 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,532 1,382

2021 2020 

Auditor’s remuneration can be analysed as follows: £’000s £’000s 

Audit of  the Group’s accounts 345 299

Other services:      

Other audit-related services 92 62 

437 361
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13. Taxation
2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Analysis of tax charge for the year

Current tax

UK Corporation tax based on the profit for the year -   -

Other corporation tax – GHB Properties Limited -   -   

Other corporation tax – Ascend Estates Limited 153 -   

Total current tax charge 153 -  

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of  timing differences -   -

Effect on changes in tax rates -   -

Tax on profits on ordinary activities - -

The standard rate of  the UK corporation tax applied to reported profit is 19% (2020: 19%). Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at 
the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets of  £8,930k (2020: £10,097k), have not been recognised due to uncertainty of  timing on future profitability.

The tax expense in the income statement for the year was £153k (2020: £0k). The tax expense can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) per 
the income statement as follows:

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Profit before tax from continuing operations 3,383 1,743

Adjusting items subject to UK corporation tax 234 342  

Profit/(loss) before tax subject to UK corporation tax 3,617 2,085

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of  19% (2020: 19%) 687 396 

Effects of:

Results from associates and subsidiaries 477 (210) 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 516 42 

Tax relief  on disposal of  fixed assets 1 122

Unrecognised current year losses and other temporary differences (671) 764  

Fixed asset differences - 1  

Deferred tax asset not recognised (660) -

Income tax not taxable for tax purposes (203) (1,117) 

Other permanent differences 1 2  

Other corporation tax charge-GHB Properties limited 5 -  

Tax charge in the consolidated income statement 153 -  

14. Other income
Income of  £2,178k (2020: £2,542k) relates to rental income the Group has earned from its investment properties in the year. 

15. Profit Rate Swap
The Group participates in Shariah compliant derivatives, profit rate swaps (“PRS”) to hedge the exposure in fixed rate mortgages in the 
residential and commercial financing books. 

At the inception of  the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of  the hedging relationship and the entity’s risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair 
value attributable to the hedged risk, consistently with the originally documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging 
relationship. The effectiveness of  the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e. the fair value of  the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged 
risk and the fair value of  the hedging instrument can be reliably measured. The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined 
actually to have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which the hedge was designated. 



ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021    |    GATEHOUSE FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED 37

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Hedge ineffectiveness for the Group’s PRS can be explained by:

• Floating leg of  the PRS will have a value on any day other than the reset date. The floating leg only exists in the hedging instrument and 
not the hedged item so ineffectiveness will result;

• Prepayments of  the hedged items will cause an over-hedged position and ineffectiveness will result; and
• Maturity dates of  the hedged items and the hedging instruments differ so ineffectiveness will result.

The table below show the fair values of  financial instruments designated for hedging, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their 
notional amounts:

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Notional Principal 360,000 281,700 

Fair value adjustment to hedged item 2,556  7,134 

Accrued profit of  hedged item 63  12 

Carrying Value of hedged item 2,619  7,146 

Fair value adjustment to hedging instrument (2,689) (7,469) 

Accrued profit of  hedging instrument (374) (265) 

Carrying Value of hedging instrument (3,063) (7,734) 

Net Profit Rate Swaps Fair Value Hedges (133) (335) 

Net Profit Rate Swaps Accrued profit (312) (253) 

Net carrying Value of hedged item and hedging instrument (445) (588) 

The line item in the Statement of  Financial Position that includes the hedging instrument is ‘Derivative Financial Instruments assets and 
liabilities and the line item that includes the hedged item is ’Financing and advances at amortised cost’.

The hedge ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss for the year 2021 is £202k gain, (2020: £96 loss).

16. Company profit/ loss attributable to equity shareholders 
 £2,785 of  the company profit for the financial year (2020: £1,802) has been dealt with in the accounts of  the Group.

17. Financing and advances at amortised cost
Financing and advances to customers, corporates and financial institutions are held at amortised cost. 

That is, the initial fair value (which is normally the amount advanced or financed) is adjusted for repayments and fees to represent the 
effective finance rate of  the asset.

Avg. Yield 2021 Avg. Yield 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Gross financing and advances at amortised cost 904,723 705,102

Less: allowances for impairment (3,612) (2,932)

Financing and advances at amortised cost 3.92% 901,111 3.92% 702,170 

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying value 812,023 79,034 13,666 904,723

Loss allowance (413) (2,468) (731) (3,612)

Carrying value under IFRS 9 811,610 76,566 12,935 901,111

15.  Profit Rate Swap (continued)
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17.  Financing and advances at amortised cost (continued)

2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying value 643,615  55,290  6,197  705,102  

Loss allowance (265) (2,492) (175) (2,932) 

Carrying value under IFRS 9 643,350  52,798  6,022  702,170 

Change in expected credit losses on financing and advances at amortised cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021 (265) (2,492) (175) (2,932)

New financial assets originated or purchased (304) - - (304)

Transfers
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 (64) 64 - -

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3 (88) - 88 -

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1 168 (168) - -

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3 - (64) 64 -

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1 24 - (24) -

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2 - 26 (26) -

Changes in PD's/ LGD's / EAD's 116 166 (658) (376)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 (413) (2,468) (731) (3,612)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 (83) (59) (24) (166) 
New financial assets originated or purchased (89) -  -  (89) 
Transfers
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1 17  (17) -  -  
Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1 6  -  (6) -  
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 (12) 12  -  -  
Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2 -  56  (56) -  
Changes in PD's/ LGD's / EAD's (104) (2,484) (89) (2,677) 
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 (265) (2,492) (175) (2,932) 

Change in gross carrying amount of  financing and advances at amortised cost:

Financing and advances at amortised cost
2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 643,615 55,290 6,197 705,102
Transfers
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 (41,708) 41,708 - -
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3 (6,348) - 6,348 -
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1 22,861 (22,861) - -
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3 - (4,415) 4,415 -
Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1 1,093 - (1,093) -
Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2 - 1,722 (1,722) -
Net new financing/payments 192,509 7,590 (478) 199,621
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021 812,022 79,034 13,667 904,723
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17.  Financing and advances at amortised cost (continued)

Financing and advances at amortised cost

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 537,866 18,663 3,114 559,643

Transfers

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 (48,647)  48,647 -  - 

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3 (4,882) -  4,882 - 

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1 4,691 (4,691)  -  - 

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3 -  (951) 951 - 

Net new financing/payments 154,588 (6,378) (2,751)  145,459

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 643,616 55,290 6,197 705,102

18. Financial assets held at fair value though the income statement  

Avg. Yield 2021 Avg. Yield 2020

£’000s £’000s 

Unquoted equity securities 16,781  18,071 

4.51% 16,781 6.10%  18,071 

All finance receivables are bilateral financial arrangements with corporate entities accounted for as Loans and Receivables in accordance 
with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

19. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Avg. Yield 2021 Avg. Yield 2020

£’000s £’000s 

Quoted sukuk 22,951  17,942 

Unquoted equity securities 8,874 13,991

Unquoted funds -  -

Quoted equity securities 2  -   

3.27% 31,825 4.23%  31,933 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – Debt assets

2021

Stage 1 
12m ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL

Purchased 
Credit 

impaired
Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying value 22,954 - - - 22,954

Loss allowance (3) - - - (3)

Carrying value under IFRS 9 22,951 - - - 22,951

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – Debt assets

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Purchased Total

12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Credit 

impaired

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Gross carrying value 17,944  - - - 17,944  

Loss allowance (2) - - - (2) 

Carrying value under IFRS 9 17,942  - - - 17,942  
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19.  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – Debt assets

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Purchased Total

2021 12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Credit 

impaired
2021

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021 (2) - - - (2)

New financial assets originated or purchased - - - - -

Changes in PD's/ LGD's / EAD's (1) - - (1)

FX and other movements - - -

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 (3) - - - (3)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – Debt assets

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Purchased Total

2020 12m ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Credit 

impaired
2020

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2020 (1) - - - (1) 

New financial assets originated or purchased (2) - - - (2) 

Changes in PD's/ LGD's / EAD's 1  - - 1  

FX and other movements -  - - -  -  

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 (2) - - - (2) 

20. Investment in subsidiaries
The Group consists of  a parent company, Gatehouse Financial Group Limited, incorporated in Jersey and a number of  subsidiaries and 
associates held directly and indirectly by Gatehouse Financial Group Limited, which operate and are incorporated around the world. 
Kuwait Investment Authority and The Securities House K.S.C.P are the ultimate controlling party. Information about the composition of 
the Group at the end of  the reporting period is as follows:

Subsidiaries Principal Activity   Place of business & 
Country of incorporation 

GFG 
consolidated 

interest

Directly held:    

Gatehouse Bank plc Banking and Investment Advisory England & Wales 100.0%

Gatehouse Capital Economic and Financial 
Consultancy K.S.C.C

Investment and Real Estate Investment 
Advisory Kuwait 100.0%

Gatehouse UK PRS Manager Limited Investment and real estate activities Cayman Islands 100.0%

Indirectly held:    

Held through Gatehouse Bank plc    

Ascend Estates Limited Management of  real estate England & Wales 50.1%

Silver Noisy Sarl Letting of  office space France 100%

   

Held through Gatehouse 
Capital Economic and Financial 
Consultancy K.S.C 

   

Dhow Holdings Corporation (“DHC”) Investment and real estate activities Cayman Islands 100.0%

Blue Pillar Advisory Ltd Investment and real estate activities Cayman Islands 100.0%

Held through DHC    

Global Securities House USA, Inc.(“GSH”) Investment and real estate activities USA 100.0%
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21. Disclosure of interests in other entities
The Group has investments in a number of  special purpose vehicles (SPVs) that have an interest in UK property. The Group provides 
investment advisory services in relation to the investments. The investment SPVs have two classes of  equity: management shares which 
carry voting rights; and participating shares which represent economic interests in the SPVs. None of  the SPVs are consolidated by the 
Group as the Group holds only a small percentage of  the participating shares and acts as agent in its capacity as investment advisor for 
the SPVs. Typically the Group receives a fixed annual advisory fee for its services which is not linked to the performance of  the SPV and a 
performance fee of  20% of  profits achieved over a specified rate of  return.  

The Group also has investments in a number of  US property special purpose vehicles (SPVs) which are included in financial assets at 
FVOCI and FVTIS. Gatehouse Capital is the sponsor of  these SPVs and provides investment advisory services to them. None of  the 
SPVs are consolidated by the Group as the Group holds only a small percentage of  the participating shares and has no involvement in the 
management or control of  the SPVs.

The Group’s gross investment in property SPVs is £25,656k (2020: £30,565k) which is included in financial assets held at fair value through 
the income statement and financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group has also provided funding 
through fixed term Murabaha contracts as bridge financing to these SPVs. The Group’s maximum loss relating to these SPVs is equal to the 
exposure in the SPVs. The primary risk to which the Group is exposed is the risk of  changes in the valuation of  the Group’s investment in 
the SPV due to changes in the valuation of  the property held by each SPV or changes in the cash flows generated by the property.

22. Investment in Associate
This represents the Group’s 65% share of  investment in Weaver Point Capital Advisors, LLC (“Weaver Point”), incorporated in the 
United States and has Real Estate advisory as principal activities. The Group accounts for the investment in Weaver Point as an associate in 
accordance with IAS 28: Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures, as the Group does not have power over Weaver Point and the ability 
to use its power over Weaver Point to affect its returns and hence does not have control over Weaver Point under IFRS 10. 

Movement on the investment in associate is shown below:

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

At the beginning of  the year 9,250  9,411 

Share of  profit 2,183 1,145 

Foreign currency translation adjustment 188 (349)

Dividends received (866) (957)

Impairment of  goodwill (1,853) -

At the end of the year 8,902 9,250

The following table illustrates summarised financial information of  investment in associates:

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Aggregated amounts relating to associate

Total assets 6,891 2,726 

Total liabilities (2,658) (761)

Net assets 4,233 1,965 

Total revenue 8,190 4,944 

Profit 3,507 1,763 

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s 

Group’s share of  net assets of  associate 2,598  1,221 

Goodwill and intangibles 6,304  8,029 

Carrying amount of interest in associates 8,902  9,250 
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23. Derivative financial instruments 
Assets
£’000s

Liabilities
£’000s

Notional amount
£’000s

2021
Maturing in 0-3 months 2,619 (5,033) 388,672
Maturing in 3-6 months -   - -   

2,619 (5,033) 388,672
2020
Maturing in 0-3 months 15,351 7,734 314,885 

Maturing in 3-6 months - - -
15,351 7,734 314,885 

The Group uses foreign currency agreements for matching currency exposure. The Group also uses derivatives to prudently manage its 
profit rate risk, which allows the Group to hedge against risks arising from deposits of  certain short-term maturities and longer-term financing.

24. Intangible assets

Intangible assets: 2021 2020
£’000s £’000s

Software costs and licence fees 801 1,041 

Customer List 587 424 

Total Balance at 31 December 1,388 1,465 

Software costs and licence fees
2021

£’000s
2020

£’000s 
Cost
At 1 January 3,696 3,195 
Additions 124 502 
Disposals - -   
At 31 December 3,820  3,697 

Amortisation
At 1 January 2,655 2,326 
Charge for the year 364 330 
On disposal - -   
At 31 December 3,019 2,656 

Net book value
At 1 January 1,041  869 
At 31 December 801 1,041

Customer lists
2021

£’000s
2020

£’000s 
Cost
At 1 January 490 490 
Additions 196 -   
Disposals - -   
At 31 December 686 490 

Amortisation
At 1 January 66 33 
Charge for the year 33 33 
On disposal - -   
At 31 December 99 66 

Net book value

At 1 January 424 457 

At 31 December 587 424 
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25. Property, plant and equipment

Group Property Leasehold 
property

Leasehold 
vehicles

Computer 
equipment

Fixtures 
and 

fittings

Leasehold 
improvements Vehicles Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Cost

At 1 January 2021 - 2,681 205 1,524 747 245 39 5,441

Additions - 1,437 158 111 120 - - 1,826

Reclassification to 
property held for sale

- - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

FX retranslation - 14 - 11 12 - - 37

At 31 December 2021 - 4,132 363 1,646 879 245 39 7,304

Depreciation

At 1 January 2021 - 1,205 104 1,258 638 92 39 3,336

Charge for the period - 777 29 168 111 50 - 1,135

Write-off on disposals - - - - - - - -

FX Retranslation - 32 - 5 - (2) - 35

At 31 December 2021 - 2,014 133 1,431 749 140 39 4,506

Net book value

At 1 January 2021 - 1,476 101 266 109 153 - 2,105

At 31 December 2021 - 2,118 230 215 130 105 - 2,798

Group Property Leasehold 
property

Leasehold 
vehicles

Computer 
equipment

Fixtures 
and 

fittings

Leasehold 
improvements Vehicles Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Cost

At 1 January 2020 - 1,364 108 1,591 862 1,654 40 5,619

Additions - 1,346 97 219 40 138 - 1,840

Reclassification to 
property held for sale

- - - - - - - -

Disposals - -  -  (269) (134) (1,547) - (1,950)

FX retranslation - (29) - (17) (21) -   (1) (68)

At 31 December 2020 - 2,681 205 1,524 747 245 39 5,441

Depreciation

At 1 January 2020 - 490 48 1,367 775 969 40 3,689

Charge for the period - 749 56 149 19 47 - 1,020

Write-off on disposals - -  -  (249) (134) (924) - (1,307)

FX Retranslation - (34) - (9) (22) - (1) (66)

At 31 December 2020 - 1,205 104 1,258 638 92 39 3,336

Net book value

At 1 January 2020 - 874 60 224 87 685 - 1,930

At 31 December 2020 - 1,476 101 266 109 153 - 2,105
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26. Leases
Right of use assets

The Group’s leased assets including buildings, vehicles and computer equipment as at 31 December 2021:

Leasehold 
property

Leasehold 
vehicles

Computer 
equipment Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Cost

At 1 January 2021 1,476 101 6 1,583

Additions 1437 158 - 1,595

Depreciation charge for the year (777) (29) - (806)

FX retranslation (18) - - (18)

At 31 December 2021 2,118 230 6 2,354

The Group’s leased assets including buildings, vehicles and computer equipment as at 31 December 2020:

Leasehold 
property

Leasehold 
vehicles

Computer 
equipment Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Cost

At 1 January 2020 874 60 11 945

Additions 1,346 97 - 1,443

Depreciation charge for the year (749) (56) (5) (810)

FX retranslation 5 - - 5

At 31 December 2020 1,476 101 6 1,583

Lease liabilities
Contractual undiscounted cash flows:

2021

£’000s  

Less than one year 682

One to five years 1,853

More than five years -

2,535

2020

£’000s  

Less than one year 644

One to five years 1,167

More than five years 29

1,840

Amounts recognised in the income statement:

2021

£’000s   

Profit on lease liabilities 80

Expenses relating to short-term leases -

Expenses relating to leases of  low value assets, excluding short-term leases of  low value items 25

105
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26.  Leases (continued)

2020
£’000s

Profit on lease liabilities  97
Expenses relating to short-term leases  - 
Expenses relating to leases of  low value assets, excluding short-term leases of  low value items  - 

97

Amounts recognised in the statement of  cash flows:
2021

£’000s
Total cash outflow for leases (1,000)

(1,000)

2020
£’000s

Total cash outflow for leases  (716)

 (716)

27. Goodwill 
On 29 June 2015, the Group completed the step-up acquisition of  Gatehouse Capital to be the 100% owner. On 31 October 2018 
the Group also purchased a 50.1% controlling interest on a subsidiary incorporated in England and Wales: Ascend Estates Limited. The 
reconciliation of  Goodwill balances at 31 December 2021 are provided below:

2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s

Balance as at 1 January 11,747 12,050 

Acquisition during the year 437 -

FX re-measurement 148 (303)

Balance as at 31 December 12,332 11,747 

28. Other Assets
2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s
Other debtors 5,095 3,075 

Prepayments 1,067 856 

Accrued income receivable 1,075 615 

7,237 4,546 

29. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Avg. Yield

£’000s 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost at 1 January 2021 1,74% 713,999
Net proceeds from financial institutions and customers 198,545
Net increase in profit payable (1,102)
FX Movement (618)
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost at 31 December 2021 1,92% 910,824

Avg. Yield
£’000s 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost at 1 January 2020 2.19% 564,601 
Net proceeds from financial institutions and customers 149,254 
Net increase in profit payable 798 
FX Movement (654) 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost at 31 December 2020 1.74%  713,999 
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30. Financial liabilities held at fair value through the income statement
2021 2020 

£’000s £’000s
Financial liabilities held at fair value through the income statement 1,341 1,226 

Financial liabilities held at fair value through income statement relate to a partial participation from a third party in a syndicated financing 
arrangement with the Group which is classified as fair value through the income statement.

31. Other liabilities
2021 2020

£’000s £’000s 
 Other provisions 2,163 1,250

 Lease liabilities 2,535  1,840 

 Other taxes and social security costs 537  391 

 Other creditors 9,344 5,584
14,579  9,065 

32. Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
The table shows an analysis of  assets and liabilities analysed between those expected to be recovered or settled within more or less than 
12 months of  the balance sheet date:

2021 Less than 12 
months

More than 12 
months Total

£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 50,945 - 50,945
Financing and advances at amortised cost 61,449 839,662 901,111
Financial assets held at FVTIS - 16,781 16,781
Financial assets held FVTOCI 10,270 21,555 31,825
Investment in Associates - 8,902 8,902

Derivative financial instruments 2,619 - 2,619

Total financial assets 125,283 886,900 1,012,183

Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 615,111 295,713 910,824

Financial liabilities held at FVTOCI 1,341 - 1,341

Derivative financial instruments 5,033 - 5,033

Other liabilities 682 1,853 2,535

Total financial liabilities 622,167 297,566 919,733

2020
Less than 12 

months
More than 12 

months Total
£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 15,598 -   15,598 

Financing and advances at amortised cost 65,741   636,428 702,170 

Financial assets held at FVTIS 14,967 3,104 18,071 

Financial assets held FVTOCI 3,663 28,270 31,933 

Investment in Associates - 9,250 9,250 

Derivative financial instruments 15,351 - 15,351 

Total financial assets 115,320 677,053 792,373 

Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 486,095 227,904 713,999 
Financial liabilities held at FVTOCI 1,226 -   1,226 
Derivative financial instruments 7,734 -   7,734 
Other liabilities 644 1,196 1,840 
Total financial liabilities 495,699  229,100 724,799 
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33. Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
The Group manages its exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations by matching assets with liabilities in the same currency as far as possible.

2021 2020

£’000s  £’000s  

Assets

Denominated in Sterling 959,548 753,948 

Denominated in other currencies 81,747  83,646 

1,041,295 837,594

2021 2020

£’000s  £’000s  

Liabilities

Denominated in Sterling 856,973 705,467

Denominated in other currencies 74,804 26,557

931,777 732,024

34. Pension Commitments
Within the Group, only Gatehouse Bank plc provides a defined contribution pension scheme for all staff. The assets of  the scheme are 
held separately from those of  the Bank in independently administered funds. During the year, pension costs of  £607k were charged to the 
income statement (2020: £452k). The pension creditor outstanding at the balance sheet date amounted to £20k (2020: £59k).

35. Share Capital 

2021 2020

Authorised: £’000s  £’000s  

22,500,000,000 ordinary shares of 
1 pence each 225,000 225,000

Issued and paid :

15,000,000,100 ordinary shares of 
1 pence each 150,000 150,000

Issued and partly paid :

Ordinary shares of  1 pence each paid up by 0.01 pence per share 4,930 4,930

Issued but not paid :

Ordinary shares of  1 pence each 3,070 3,070

Total issued share capital 158,000 158,000

36. Own shares
The Own Shares reserve represents the shares issued as part of  the Group’s Employee Incentive Plan, held by the Employee Benefit Trust 
on behalf  of  participating employees and the Trustee. 800,000k ordinary shares of  £0.01 each (2020: 800,000k ordinary shares) were held 
by the Employee Benefit Trust at 31 December 2021 of  which 493,000,000 were partly paid up to £0.0001 per share (2020: 493,000k).

37. Off balance sheet items
Financing commitments

At the balance sheet date, the Group has outstanding financing commitments related relating to residential property financing portfolio  
as follows:

2021 2020

£’000s  £’000s  

Within one year 93,494 75,557 

93,494  75,557 

Expected credit losses on financing commitments as at 31 December 2021 amounted to £30k (31 December 2020: £15k).
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38. Related party transactions
During the reporting year, the Group entered into separate transactions with related counterparties.

On 28 September 2020, the Group received £15,000,000 non-cash convertible Murabaha financing with a contractual maturity of  three 
years from the following two shareholders:

• £8,000,000 from Kuwait Investment Authority (KIA); and

• £7,000,000 from The Securities House 

This financing can be exchanged with ordinary shares of  the Gatehouse Financial Group Limited prior to maturity date and subject to 
meeting certain performance criteria. The value of  the option as at 31 December 2021 is deemed as nil and £15,000,000 is recognised and 
measured as a financial liability at amortised cost. 

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had a credit facility in place with the KIA for $250m (£185m) that could be drawn when required. The 
Group has £26m remaining facility amount with £160m drawn down as at 31 December 2021. 

All related parties’ transactions were entered into at an arm’s length price; amounts outstanding with related parties as at 31 December 
were as follows:

2021 Shareholder Shareholder

Kuwait 
Investment 

Authority
The Securities 

House K.S.C.C.

£’000s  £’000s  
Profit income - -

Profit expense 925 -

Assets - -

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 159,660 28
Undrawn credit facility 25,752 -

2020 Shareholder Shareholder

Kuwait 
Investment 

Authority
The Securities 

House K.S.C.C.

£’000s  £’000s  
Profit income - -

Profit expense 2,008 107

Assets - -

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 63,301 6,977
Undrawn credit facility 127,681 -

The disclosure requirements in respect of  remuneration to key management personnel has been met by providing Directors’ emoluments 
details in note 7.  

39. Risk Management 
The Risk Management function is primarily at the Bank level and forms an integral part of  the Bank’s three lines of  defence governance 
model. Its role, as the second line of  defence, is to provide the control functions (Risk and Compliance) for the Board that are robust 
and commensurate to scale and nature of  the business activities that the Bank undertakes. It discharges these responsibilities through 
monitoring performance against set limits and tolerances to risk exposures, through various validation and exception reports, through 
the composition of  prudential reports and through stress testing and sensitivity analysis. The Internal Audit function, outsourced to Grant 
Thornton, a professional services firm, performs regular reviews of  different activities of  the Bank represents the third line of  defence.

The Risk Management Function provides the day-to-day monitoring of  risk exposures to ensure that the Bank’s activities remain within the 
risk appetite parameters set by the Board. 

The Bank’s Risk Management Framework outlines the key risks for the Bank and governance structure essential to manage and monitor 
each risk type. Each principal risk has detailed documented policy and overseen by a robust governance process.

The Chief  Risk Officer is responsible for the risk management and compliance function, which considers all material risks on a consolidated 
basis and, in this respect, chairs the Executive Risk Committee.
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Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of  suffering financial loss in the event that one of  the Group’s clients or market counterparties fail to fulfil their 
contractual obligations. Credit risk may also arise where the downgrading of  an entity’s credit rating causes the fair value of  an investment 
in that entity’s financial instruments to fall. The credit risk that the Group faces arises mainly from Treasury activities, real estate equity 
investment and senior and mezzanine real estate financing.

The Group’s Risk function covers several areas in respect of  assessing credit related exposures: 

• The overall management and implementation of  the risk appetite framework as determined by the Board; determining mandate and 
scale limits and implementing the risk appetite as set by the Board; 

• Assessment of  existing and potential Treasury counterparties and Sukuk by undertaking comprehensive credit risk assessments and 
making recommendations to the appropriate decision making forums. This includes monitoring of  portfolio composition; and 

• The monitoring of  exposures to ensure compliance with approved limits and that the credit quality of  the counterparty has not 
deteriorated or circumstances changed. Monitoring provides a picture of  the portfolio as a whole and its inherent risks, including 
concentrations and capital allocation. 

• For the bank’s residential real estate portfolio, the most material physical climate hazards are deemed to be flood, strong winds and 
subsidence risk. As such, our approach to assessing physical climate risk in this portfolio focused on forecasting how these physical 
hazards could change over time. To assist with this assessment, the Bank collaborates with industry experts to periodically quantify 
financial risks to the bank arising from climate change under different scenarios. These analyses are reported at the Executive Risk 
Committee and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee. 

In view of  the Group’s strategic focus on real estate business, the Risk function also covers the following: 

• Assessment of  real estate equity investments and senior and mezzanine financing activities via the provision of  comprehensive credit 
risk assessments making recommendations to appropriate decision-making forums. This includes monitoring of  portfolio composition; 
and 

• The ongoing monitoring and review of  credit risk for real estate equity investment and finance exposures to ensure compliance with 
covenants and early identification of  changes to the credit risk profile and composition of  the portfolio. 

• Enhanced analysis of  potentially deteriorating credit exposures through a ‘watch list’ process.

A comprehensive control framework is in place. This incorporates: 

• Maximum exposure guidelines relating to exposure to an individual counterparty or transaction; 

• Geographical specific limits to avoid excessive concentration of  credit risk; and 

• Specific limits to avoid excessive concentration of  credit risk in individual economic sectors. 

A range of  analysis methodologies are used to determine the credit quality of  a counterparty, such as quantitative analysis, qualitative 
analysis, credit rating model, external rating agency research, industry specific research and for wholesale assets, market information 
such as credit spreads. The current Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) is based on Gatehouse Bank adopting the 
Standardised approach to credit risk quantification for capital purposes. 

The Group has in place processes for estimating the impairment provision on loans and advances associated with credit risk in accordance 
with IFRS 9 Financial instruments (IFRS 9). IFRS 9 requires use of  expected credit loss (“ECL”) models for the purposes of  calculating 
impairment loss. 

The ECL models require the Group to exercise judgement using subjective assumptions when determining both the timing and the amounts 
of  ECL for loans and advances subject to credit risk. 

Note 3 refers to the basis by which the Group reviews for impairments of  its financial assets. Note 9 details the impairment provisions 
taken in the year to the income statement. 

Exposure

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets on the balance sheet at 31 December 2021:

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

Cash and balances with banks 50,945 15,598

Financing and advances at amortised cost 901,111 702,170

Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement (debt assets) - -

Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt assets) 31,825 17,942 

Derivative financial instruments 2,619 15,351 

986,500 751,061 

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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Geographical region

The Group’s credit exposure can be analyzed into the following geographical regions: 

2021 2020

£’000s £’000s

GCC countries 83,835 91,956 

    Kuwait 13,937 8,353 

    Saudi Arabia 17,450 22,003 

    UAE 39,887 41,774 

    Qatar 7,715 16,411

    Oman 2,421 1,717 

    Bahrain 2,425 1,698

Europe 649,787 510,305 

North America 36,752 21,393

South America 305 960

Asia 180,972 94,432 

Africa 18,958 16,978

Australasia 15,891 15,037

986,500 751,061

Credit quality 

The table below shows the credit quality of  financial assets on the balance sheet at 31 December 2021, based on the Group’s credit  
rating system:

2021
Investment 

grade

Non-
investment 

grade Non-rated Total

£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  
Assets

Cash and balances with banks 50,943 - 2 50,945

Financing and advances at amortised cost 22,992 - 878,119 901,111

Financial assets held at fair value through the income 
statement (debt assets)

- - - -

Financial assets held at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (debt Assets)

31,825 - - 31,825

Derivative financial instruments 2,619 - -   2,619

Total assets 108,379 - 878,121 986,500

2020
Investment 

grade

Non-
investment 

grade Non-rated Total
£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 13,524 - 2,074 15,598 
Financing and advances at amortised cost 16,463 - 685,707 702,170
Financial assets held at fair value through the income 
statement (debt assets)

- - - -

Financial assets held at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (debt assets)

17,942 - - 17,942 

Derivative financial instruments 15,351 - - 15,351 
Total assets 63,280 - 687,781 751,061 

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. Liquidity risk management is the 
responsibility of  the Asset and Liability Committee. To manage this risk the Group maintains an adequate portfolio of  liquid assets which 
consists of  cash and short-term bank deposits by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of  assets 
and liabilities. Within the Group, Gatehouse Bank plc is subject to and complies with the systems and control requirements of  the PRA and 
CRD IV liquidity regime.

Liquidity and rate profile

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturities for its financial assets and financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows. 
The table includes all contractual cash flows.

Less than
1 month

1-3
months

3-6
months 6-12 months 1-5 years Total

£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s 
2021
Assets
Fixed rate items 31,783 16,595 16,192 9,790 849,764 924,124
Non-rate sensitive 62,376 - - - - 62,376
Total assets 94,159 16,595 16,192 9,790 849,764 986,500

Liabilities
Fixed rate items 148,328 66,338 141,280 266,760 294,501 917,207
Non-rate sensitive - - - - - -
Total liabilities 148,328 66,338 141,280 266,760 294,501 917,207

Net (54,169) (49,743) (125,088) (256,970) 555,263 69,293

Less than
1 month

1-3
months

3-6
months 6-12 months 1-5 years Total

£’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s  £’000s 
2020
Assets
Fixed rate items 47,900 3,311 4,156 26,672 638,085 720,124
Non-rate sensitive 30,937 - - - - 30,937 
Total assets 78,837 3,311 4,156 26,672 638,085 751,061 

Liabilities
Fixed rate items 151,813 75,868 113,039 154,360 227,904 722,984
Non-rate sensitive -   - -   - - - 

Total liabilities 151,813 75,868 113,039 154,360 227,904 722,984

      

Net (72,976) (72,557) (108,883) (127,688) 410,181  28,077 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of  loss arising from a potential change in the value of  an instrument or portfolio of  instruments as a result of  changes 
in market parameters (such as interest rates, equity indices, bond prices, commodity markets and exchange rates) during a specified time 
horizon. The Group is exposed to market risk in the management of  its balance sheet. The role of  the Risk function is to identify, quantify, 
manage and monitor the potential effects of  those potential changes on the value of  the portfolio, and broader balance sheet. 

The Board sets and approves the market risk appetite for the Group’s activities. The Group’s Treasury department generally manages 
market risk. The Risk function implements a quantitative and qualitative limit framework within the context of  the approved market risk 
appetite. A daily market risk report summarizes market risk exposures against agreed limits. This daily report is circulated to the Treasurer 
for review.

A detailed market risk presentation is produced monthly and discussed at the Asset and Liability Committee.

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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Market risk measurement
The techniques used to measure and control market risk include:

• Nominal exposure limits: overnight and intraday limits;

• Value at Risk: an estimate of  potential changes in the fair value or market value of  the Bank’s portfolio due to changes in market risk 
factors;

• Maximum loss: an estimate of  the potential loss the Bank would have made on its portfolio had it held the same portfolio every day 
for the last 12 months;

• Sensitivity Analysis: an estimate of  the potential loss incurred due to a specified change in a specified market risk factor; and

• Stress Testing and Scenario Analysis: used to estimate vulnerability to exceptional but plausible events. Stress testing ensures 
the adequacy of  capital and liquidity, the viability of  strategy and assesses the risks impacting Gatehouse Bank across a range of  
market conditions.

Although the Group only trades in Shariah-compliant products, the carrying value of  financial instruments held by the Group is sensitive to 
movement in interest rates. If  interest rates had been 200 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by £4,887k (2020: £10,461k).

In order to meet internal and client demand, the Group maintains access to market liquidity by using all reasonable endeavors to quote bid 
and offer prices with other market makers and carries an inventory of  approved capital market and treasury instruments, including a range 
of  cash, securities and treasury products. These include Commodity Murabaha, Wakala, Islamic foreign exchange forwards and Profit Rate 
Swaps or a combination of  these instruments.

Value at Risk 

Profit Rate Risk (equivalent to Interest Rate Risk)
The varying profit share features and maturities of  products, together with the use of  Treasury products create Profit Rate Risk (‘PRR’) 
exposures due to the imperfect matching of  margins and maturity differences between assets and liabilities.

The Group uses derivatives to prudently manage its PRR. In 2021 the Group undertook profit rate derivatives (swaps) totalling £360m 
(2020: £282m) in the form of  fixed for floating rate, which allowed the Group to tactically hedge against risks arising from deposits of 
certain short-term maturities and longer-term financing.

Overarching PRR limits are set by the Board and articulated accordingly within the Risk Management Framework (RMF). The Board have 
further delegated oversight of  PRR to the Bank’s Executive Committee who mandate the Bank’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) to 
monitor and assess PRR. Basis Point Value (BPV) and Value at Risk (VaR) is used to monitor the risk arising from open profit rate positions. 
The Bank’s Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement allows for profit rate risk through the profit rate risk requirement.

As at 31 December 2021, the market value of  nominal positions generating profit rate VaR was £90m (2020: £92m) which generated profit 
rate VaR of:

2021 %95 VaR (£)

One day (60,885)

One week (170,938)

2020 95% VaR (£)

One day (53,470)

One week (231,998)

LIBOR and other Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR)

In order to make the business ready for transition away from LIBOR, a working group was setup headed by the Treasurer who reports 
to the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). Aside from Treasury, this working group comprised of  Finance, Risk, Legal, Operations, 
Compliance and the Front Office for the Residential and Commercial areas of  the Group. 

The purpose of  the working group was to understand existing exposures of  the Group which have reference to LIBOR benchmarking 
in their pricing, review current documentation and to prepare and deliver on an action plan to enable a smooth transition to alternative 
benchmark risk free rates (RFR) such as the Sterling Overnight Index Average Rate (SONIA).

The Group has adopted IBOR reform Phase 2 and changed RFR from Libor to Sonia for its 7 Libor linked swaps with one counterparty in 
January 2022. In line with the guidance from IASB, this transition did not result in hedge ineffectiveness.

Foreign Exchange Risk

A proportion of  treasury funding and investment activity is undertaken in foreign currencies, mainly US dollars, Euros and Kuwaiti Dinar. 
Foreign currency exposure is hedged on the balance sheet to reduce currency exposures to acceptable levels. VaR is used to monitor 
the risk arising from open foreign currency positions. The Group’s Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement allows for foreign exchange risk 
through the foreign exchange risk requirement.

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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As at 31 December 2021, the net market value of  nominal foreign exchange exposure was £693k (2020: £694k) which generated Foreign 
Exchange VaR of:

2021 95% VaR (£)

One day (3,262)

One week (7,329)

2020 95% VaR 

One day (4,385)

One week (11,589)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Sukuk Portfolio Risk

As part of  liquidity management, the Bank’s Treasury department invests in selected sukuk. As at 31 December 2021, the Bank has not 
used derivatives to hedge sukuk investments. VaR is used to monitor the risk arising from the FVTOCI sukuk investment portfolio. The 
Group’s Pillar 1 minimum capital requirement allows for investment risk through the equity position risk requirement.

As at 31 December 2021, the market value of  nominal FVTOCI sukuk investment exposure was £22,951k (2020: £17,942) which generated 
Price Risk VaR of:

2021 95% VaR (£)

One day (15,539)

One week (42,800)

2020 95% VaR 

One day (7,508)

One week (10,943)

Fair value measurements recognised in the balance sheet

The following table provides an analysis of  the financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1: Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 
As at 31 December 2021, Level 1 financial instruments are primarily investments in sukuk that are quoted in active markets and market 
bid prices have been applied to fair value these at year end;

• Level 2: Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); As at 31 December 2021, Level 2 financial 
instruments were primarily legacy financing assets; and

• Level 3: Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for  the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data. As at 31 December 2021, Level 3 financial instruments are investments in unquoted equity 
securities. Fair value is estimated on the basis of  historic cost less impairment and by reference to the net asset value of   the underlying 
investment, where the net asset value is not based on observable market data. The group splits its level 3 unquoted equity securities 
between US and UK assets. US assets are valued using the audited accounts of  the underlying SPV’s in order to arrive at a net asset 
value. UK assets are valued using confirmations of  debt and cash balances held via the SPV and third-party appraisal reports. 

2021 Level 1
£’000s

Level 2
£’000s

Level 3
£’000s

Total
£’000s

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments 2,619 - - 2,619

Financial assets held at fair value through 
the income statement

Unquoted equity securities - - 16,781 16,781

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Quoted sukuk 22,951 - - 22,951

Unquoted equity securities - - 8,874 8,874

Total 25,570 - 25,655 51,225

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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2020 Level 1
£’000s

Level 2
£’000s

Level 3
£’000s

Total
£’000s

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments 15,351 - - 15,351 

Financial assets held at fair value through 
the income statement

Unquoted equity securities - - 18,071 18,071 

Financing arrangements - - -   -

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Quoted sukuk 17,942 - - 17,942 

Quoted funds - - -   -

Unquoted equity securities -   - 13,991 13,991 

Total 33,293 - 32,062 65,355 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year and no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3.

2021 2020

Level 3 asset  Carrying 
value 

 Carrying 
value Valuation Technique Significant unobservable 

inputs

£’000s £’000s

UK Unquoted equity 
securities 16,781 18,207

Measurement of  net assets as a 
proportion of  participating shares in issue

Third party appraisal reports, 
cash and debt balances

US Unquoted equity 
securities 8,874 13,855 Measurement of  net assets as a 

proportion of  participating shares in issue
Third party appraisal reports, 
audited financial statements

Total 25,655 32,062

A proportionate increase/(decrease) in the net asset value within the financial statements would result in an increase/(decrease) in the fair 
value of  the level 3 instruments.

Reconciliation of  Level 3 fair value measurements of  financial assets:

2021 Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

Unquoted equities Unquoted funds Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s

Balance at 1 January 2021 13,991 - 13,991 

Total gains or losses:

In income statement 411 - 411

In FVTOCI - - -

Purchases (6,065) - (6,065)

Issues - - -

Settlements - - -

FX retranslation 537 - 537

Transfers out of  Level 3 - - -

Transfers into Level 3 - - -

Balance at 31 December 2021 8,874 - 8,874

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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2020 Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

Unquoted equities Unquoted funds Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s

Balance at 1 January 2020 15,267 - 15,267

Total gains or losses:

In income statement - - -

In FVTOCI (1,388) - (1,388)

Purchases 632 - 632 

Issues - - -

Settlements - - -

FX retranslation (520) - (520)

Transfers out of  Level 3 - - -

Transfers into Level 3 - - -

Balance at 31 December 2020 13,991 - 13,991 

The line item in the Consolidated Statement of  Comprehensive Income that includes change in unrealised gains/ (losses) on financial assets 
through other comprehensive income is ‘Net movement on instruments at FVTOCI’.

2021 Financial assets held at fair value through the income 
statement

Financing 
arrangements

Unquoted 
equities Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s

Balance at 1 January 2021 - 18,071 18,071
Negative revaluations - (36) (36)
Fair value uplifts -   - -
Net settlements - (1,302) (1,302)
FX retranslation - 48 48
Balance at 31 December 2021 - 16,781 16,781

A 20% decrease in property prices would reduce the fair value of  financial assets held at FVTIS by £4m as at 31 December 2021.

2020 Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement

Financing 
arrangements

Unquoted  
equities Total

£’000s £’000s £’000s

Balance at 1 January 2020 - 17,826 17,826

Negative revaluations - 114 114

Fair value uplifts - 234 234

Net settlements - -   - 

FX retranslation - (103) (103)

Balance at 31 December 2020 - 18,071 18,071

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of  loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, human factors, or from external 
events. Major sources of  operational risk include operational process reliability, IT security, outsourcing of  operations, dependence on key 
suppliers, implementation of  strategic change, integration of  acquisitions, fraud, operational error, customer service quality, regulatory and 
legislative compliance, recruitment, training retention of  staff and social and environmental impacts.

Ongoing assessment of  operational risks occurs through the analysis of  risk events, audit findings, external events and key operational risk 
indictors. Key functions across Gatehouse Bank periodically perform self-assessments of  the risks and associated controls in operating 
their respective processes. Relevant operational risk management information is recorded in a dashboard that is prepared and presented 
monthly to the Executive Risk Committee, and quarterly to the Board Risk & Compliance Committee. The dashboard captures and 
ranks key inherent operational risks, along with an analysis of  mitigating controls in place. The role also involves input into outsourcing 
arrangements and reviewing of  any new products.

39.  Risk Management (continued)
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Pillar 3 Disclosures

Gatehouse Bank plc’s Pillar 3 disclosures are presented in the “Pillar 3 Disclosures” document, available on request. The disclosures are 
made annually and are published as soon as practicable after the publication of  the annual report and financial statements of  the Group.

Capital Risk Management (Unaudited)

Within the Group, Gatehouse Bank plc’s capital requirements are set and monitored by the regulator. The Bank’s policy in respect of 
capital adequacy is to maintain a strong capital base to retain investor, creditor and market confidence. During the year, capital has 
been maintained at a level above minimum regulatory requirement. Such levels have been established by reference to an Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process (‘‘ICAAP’’) assessment. 

The Bank’s regulatory capital consists of  Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital and retained earnings less intangible assets, 
and Tier 2 capital.

Gatehouse Bank plc’s regulatory capital position was as follows: 2021 2020

Core Tier 1 Capital £’000s £’000s

Share capital 150,049 150,049

Retained losses (39,475) (44,637) 

Other Reserves - FVTOCI (3,596) (2,969) 

Add back of  IFRS 9 impairments due to transitional arrangements 723 1,172

107,701 103,616

Deductions from CET1 (13,213) (13,915) 

Tier 2 Capital 9,000 9,000

Total regulatory capital 103,488 98,701

40. Subsequent events
There were no material events subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up until the authorisation of  the financial statements for issue, that 
have not been disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
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